ASSESSMENT OF THE 24/7 SOBRIETY PROGRAM IN NORTH DAKOTA: PARTICIPANT BEHAVIOR DURING ENROLLMENT



Prepared by:

Andrew Kubas, Ph.D. Poyraz Kayabas, Ph.D. Candidate Kimberly Vachal, Ph.D.

Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute North Dakota State University, Fargo

UGPTI Department Publication No. 279 March 2015

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the North Dakota Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The North Dakota Department of Transportation assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

North Dakota State University does not discriminate on the basis of age, color, disability, gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, public assistance status, sex, sexual orientation, status as a U.S. veteran, race or religion. Direct inquiries to the Vice President for Equity, Diversity and Global Outreach, 205 Old Main, Fargo, ND, (701) 231-7708.

ABSTRACT

The 24/7 Sobriety Program is an intervention strategy mandating that repeat impaired driving offenders remain sober as a condition of bond or pre-trial release. The goal is to monitor the most dangerous offenders in North Dakota and require that these individuals remain sober in order to keep roadways safe from hazardous drivers. As a component of the program, offenders are required to submit to twice-a-day blood alcohol concentration tests, ankle bracelet monitoring, drug patches, urinalysis, or a combination of techniques. If a program participant fails to remain sober, the individual is sent directly to jail. During the most recent legislative biennium, the North Dakota legislature passed House Bill 1302, a resolution mandating that repeat offenders participate in the program for 12 months. This new legislation went into effect on August 1, 2013. This project seeks to understand if the 24/7 Sobriety Program has a positive deterrent effect on repeat impaired driving offenders. Results show that drivers significantly improve traffic metrics after enrolling in the program. The program appears to have more of a deterrent effect on women than on men. The mandatory 12-month enrollment period has a stronger deterrent effect than did prior sentences which were generally left to judicial discretion. Nonetheless, for a group of high-risk offenders – those who likely abuse alcohol and have issues with self-control – the program was found to have little positive effect on non-DUI convictions and crash patterns.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	BACKGROUND	3
	2.1 Impaired Driving in the United States	4
	2.2 Reasons for Drinking, Treatment, and Sobriety	4
	2.3 Recidivism	5
	2.4 The HOPE Program	
	2.5 The South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project: A Model for North Dakota and Other States	7
	2.6 Implementing the 24/7 Sobriety Program in North Dakota	8
3.	METHODS	10
	3.1 Data Characteristics	11
	3.1.1 Program Start Year	11
	3.1.2 Demographic Information	11
	3.1.3 Monitoring System	
	3.1.4 Recidivist Status	12
4.	RESULTS	14
	4.1 Descriptive Statistics	
	4.1.1 Impaired Driving Events	
	4.1.1.1 Overall BAC Levels before Starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program	15
	4.1.1.2 Overall BAC Levels after Starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program	
	4.1.2 Non-DUI-Related Convictions	16
	4.1.3 Crash Trends	
	4.2 Driver Groups	19
	4.2.1 Gender	
	4.2.2 Age	
	4.2.3 Recidivist Status	22
	4.2.3.1 High-Risk Recidivists	
	4.2.3.2 Moderate-Risk Recidivists	23
	4.2.4 Prior Impaired Driving History	
	4.3 Before-and-After Results	25
	4.3.1 Gender	
	4.3.2 Age	
	4.3.3 Recidivist Status	
	4.3.4 Prior Impaired Driving History	30
5.	PARTICIPANT PATTERNS RELATED TO HOUSE BILL 1302	
6.	CONCLUSIONS	
RE	FERENCES	36

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Alcohol-Related Fatalities in North Dakota, 2007-2013	1
Figure 2.1 DUI Conviction Rates in North Dakota, 2003-2013	3
Figure 4.1 Impaired Driving Events by Program Enrollees within One Year from Start Date	14
Figure 4.2 Annual Impaired Driving Events by Program Enrollees	15
Figure 4.3 Offender BAC Level before Starting Program, by Number of DUIs on Record	15
Figure 4.4 Offender BAC Level after Starting Program, by Number of DUIs on Record	16
Figure 4.5 Non-DUI-Related Citations before Starting Program	17
Figure 4.6 Non-DUI-Related Citations after Starting Program	
Figure 4.7 Crashes before Starting 24/7 Sobriety Program	
Figure 4.8 Crashes after Starting 24/7 Sobriety Program	19

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Program Start Year of Offenders in Sample	11
Table 3.2 Offenders in Sample, by Age	11
Table 3.3 Monitoring Systems	12
Table 3.4 Impaired Driving Arrests on Record before Starting 24/7 Sobriety Program	13
Table 4.1 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by Gender	20
Table 4.2 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by Gender	20
Table 4.3 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by Age	21
Table 4.4 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by Age	22
Table 4.5 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by High-Risk Status	22
Table 4.6 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by High-Risk Status	23
Table 4.7 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by Moderate-Risk Status	24
Table 4.8 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by Moderate-Risk Status	24
Table 4.9 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by History	25
Table 4.10 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by History	25
Table 4.11 Before-and-After Results: Gender Percentages and Averages	26
Table 4.12 Before-and-After Results: Age Cohort Percentages and Averages	28
Table 4.13 Before-and-After Results: High-Risk Recidivist Percentages and Averages	29
Table 4.14 Before-and-After Results: Moderate-Risk Recidivist Percentages and Averages	29
Table 4.15 Before-and-After Results: Prior DUI History Percentages and Averages	31
Table 5.1 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by House Bill 1302	32
Table 5.2 Mean Values Displaying Average Participant Violations, by House Bill 1302	33
Table 5.3 Before-and-After Results: Pre/Post-House Bill 1302 Percentages and Averages	33

1. INTRODUCTION

Impaired driving is a traffic safety hazard that poses a threat to both drivers who operate vehicles while impaired and other sober drivers sharing the roadway. The effects of alcohol on drivers are multifaceted, and include slowed reaction time, vision impairment, interference with concentration, dulling of judgment, and creating a false sense of confidence (NDDOT 2010). In the United States, motor vehicle crashes are the leading cause of death for people between the ages of 3 and 34 (Subramanian 2009). At a national level, 31% of all motor vehicle crash fatalities are related to alcohol (NHTSA 2012). This rate is even greater in North Dakota (Figure 1.1). The North Dakota Highway Patrol (NDHP) has tracked alcohol-related crash fatalities since 2007 and found that anywhere from 40% to 58% of all fatal crashes involve alcohol. Mothers Against Drunk Driving (MADD) (2014) estimates the burden on North Dakota taxpayers for drunken driving fatalities is \$352 million annually. Clearly, there are both public health and economic benefits if impaired driving is deterred and roadways are made safer in North Dakota.



Figure 1.1 Alcohol-Related Fatalities in North Dakota, 2007-2013

Historically, criminal fines and punishment associated with impaired driving in North Dakota have been perceived as lenient when compared to other state jurisdictions (VanWechel, Vachal, and Benson 2008). At present, the State of North Dakota utilizes many nationally accepted strategies to deter instances of impaired driving. For instance, the state has various laws in place designed to deter drivers from operating a vehicle while impaired. These laws include an illegal per se law, implied consent law, preliminary breath test law, punishment for refusal, administrative license suspensions, minimum mandatory ("hard") suspension periods, and open container laws, among others (NHTSA 2007).

Traditionally, North Dakota legislators have passed changes to impaired driving law via piecemeal legislation. In the first few months of 2013, however, the state passed comprehensive impaired driving reform via North Dakota House Bill 1302, one of the first pieces of legislation passed during the legislative session. The successful passing of this comprehensive reform was attributed to two impaired driving events that gained statewide publicity after taking place within days of one another (Birst and Pettit Venhuizen 2014). In early July 2012, an impaired driver was traveling the wrong way on I-94 near Jamestown when his pickup collided head-on with the vehicle of a young family. The impaired driver and

all three travelers in the other car – a husband, pregnant wife, and 18-month-old daughter – were killed. Just a few days later at a campground near the Canada-North Dakota border, an impaired driver got behind the wheel of a pickup truck, lost control of the vehicle, and drove over a tent being used by a father, his two young sons, and one of their close friends. The two brothers – a five-year-old and a nine-year-old – were killed. It is widely accepted that these two events propelled legislators to reconsider the fines and punishment associated with impaired driving. These events also accelerated the process for passing impaired driving reform and helped make the issue a priority among legislators (Birst and Pettit Venhuizen 2014).

Included in House Bill 1302 was expanded use of the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Although the program had been in use for a few years in the state – it was introduced in pilot study form in 2008 and extended statewide in 2010 – enrollment in the program was largely contingent upon judicial discretion. Whereas the 24/7 Sobriety Program was used mostly as a condition of pre-trial release for repeat offenders prior to 2013 (Smith 2013), House Bill 1302 mandated enrollment for repeat offenders. Beginning in 2013, second-time offenders have a mandatory 12-month enrollment in the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Third-time offenders also have a mandatory 12-month enrollment in the program but are also subjected to supervised probation. Fourth and subsequent offenders are required by law to be enrolled in the program for 24 months in addition to being placed on supervised probation. This law went into effect on August 1, 2013. The following paper discusses trends among DUI offenders enrolled in the program.

2. BACKGROUND

According to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), alcohol-impaired motor vehicle crashes cost more than an estimated \$37 billion each year. During 2010, NHTSA reported more than 10,000 deaths caused by alcohol-impaired driving, which accounts for one-third of all traffic crashes. This is a serious problem facing the nation in promoting public health safety. Several interventions and countermeasures have been used in efforts to reduce losses caused by impaired drivers. These strategies focus on minimizing losses for both the driver choosing to operate a vehicle while impaired and for other sober roadway users impacted by someone else's flawed decision to drink-drive. Countermeasures are typically coupled in these efforts as states work to stop alcohol-impaired driving. For instance, confounding effects may be found with policies that levy in penalties such as fines, licensure loss, and incarceration, along with public education deterrence efforts. Other efforts may focus on enforcement, such as high-visibility enforcement or sustained enforcement programs. In rare cases, some states have deployed programs designed to provide interventions for individual drivers.

In North Dakota, impaired driving is an endemic problem in public safety. On average, state law enforcement personnel arrest between 5,000 and 7,000 individuals for DUI each year (Figure 2.1). Of these arrested drivers, however, only about 80% will be convicted of operating a vehicle while impaired. Nonetheless, with regard to impaired driving arrests and convictions per capita, North Dakota is among the national leaders for this dangerous activity.



Figure 2.1 DUI Conviction Rates in North Dakota, 2003-2013

According to the North Dakota Highway Patrol, anywhere from roughly two-fifths to three-fifths of fatal crashes in the state involve impaired drivers (2014). This statistic places North Dakota in the top 10 states with the highest rates of alcohol-related motor vehicle fatal crashes (Ziegler et al. 2011). In North Dakota, repeat DUI offenders account for one-third to one-half of all DUI offenses (Ziegler et al. 2010). Due to the high share of repeat DUI offenders, it may be particularly beneficial to understand the success for driver-based interventions that can be targeted at specific offender groups. Although early in its implementation, the goal here is to conduct an assessment of one such program in North Dakota – the 24/7 Sobriety Program – which was first introduced during a 2008 pilot study.

2.1 Impaired Driving in the United States

In a seminal study surveying impaired driving attitudes and behaviors, Drew et al. (2010) estimated that 85.5 million drinking-driving trips were taken in 2008. A separate study found that 2% of randomly selected nighttime weekend drivers in the United States had illegal blood alcohol content levels (Lacey et al. 2009). Beitel, Sharp, and Glauz (2000) estimated that the detection and apprehension rate of impaired drivers is rare: there is less than one arrest for every 300 trips by drivers with illegal blood alcohol concentrations. Hause, Voas, and Chavez (1982) had similar findings. A study by the NHTSA (2006) showed even lower apprehension rates and estimated that there are between 500 and 2,000 DUI violations committed for every one DUI violator arrested. In addition to trips taken by impaired drivers, there is also the threat of impaired drivers being involved in more serious crashes, such as those that result in injuries or fatalities. One study found that alcohol-impaired driving crashes injure 200,000 Americans and accrue roughly \$130 billion in societal costs annually in the United States (Zaloshnja and Miller 2009). According to the latest estimates released by the FBI (2013) 1,166,824 drivers were arrested for DWI or DUI in the United States in 2013.

Making smart decisions with regard to driving after drinking is a major safety and public health concern in a nation where one-third of the population consumes alcohol (Voas and Fell 2011). The National Survey of Drinking and Driving Attitudes and Behaviors conducted by the NHTSA found that one in five of those surveyed aged 16 or older reported driving within two hours after drinking (NHTSA 2010). Between 1982 and 1997 the enactment of basic impaired driving laws decreased alcohol-related crash fatalities but no major declines have occurred since (Voas and Fell 2011). These laws commonly included a 0.08 g/dL BAC legal limit, license revocation or suspension for BAC higher than the legal limit, a minimum legal drinking age of 21, and the zero-tolerance law for drivers younger than 21 with alcohol in their system (Voas and Fell 2011). Currently all 50 states and the District of Columbia have a 0.08 g/dL BAC legal limit as well as vehicle sanctions for repeat offenders (Voas and Fell 2011). Even with these laws in place, impaired driving is still occurring at dangerous rates.

A study conducted by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) used data from the 2010 Behavioral Risk Surveillance System Survey (BRSSS) to assess the prevalence of drink-driving among adults. The study used a phone survey which asked the respondents if they had a drink in the past 30 days. Those that reported having a drink were also asked how many times they drove in the past 30 days while they were inebriated. The results of the survey were that 2.8% of respondents reported at least one episode of alcohol-impaired driving. The four million respondents yielded an estimated 112,116,000 episodes of alcohol-impaired driving in the United States for the 2010 calendar year. The results showed that impaired driving was highest among ages 21-24, binge drinkers, and among those less likely to wear seat belts (Bergen, Shults, and Rudd 2011). The impaired driving trends were also analyzed for regions and states and showed that the Midwest region had the highest rate of impaired driving with 643 episodes, respectively, per 1,000 population, respectively (Bergen, Shults, and Rudd 2011). The state with the highest self-reported impaired driving in the Midwest region was North Dakota (Bergen, Shults, and Rudd 2011).

2.2 Reasons for Drinking, Treatment, and Sobriety

Reasons for drinking are diverse and vary on an individual basis. Ekendahl (2007) interviewed 12 compulsory alcohol abusers to learn about their drinking tendencies. Common themes for abusing alcohol included problem denial and lack of treatment. Huseth and Kubas (2012) administered a survey to first-time and repeat DUI offenders in North Dakota. A link was discovered between inebriated drivers not having a passenger present in the vehicle at the time of arrest, suggesting that some individuals may be

drinking alone for escapism. Other respondents showed behaviors indicative of alcoholism and/or issues with self-control: for example, repeat offenders were more likely to have also used illicit drugs on the same day as their DUI arrest. In a study by Wiliszowski et al. (1996), counselors interviewed DWI recidivists about why they continued to drive after a DWI conviction. Offenders reported a need for thorough alcohol use assessment, self-commitment to dealing with problems, personalized treatment, and continued contact with caring individuals as factors needed to reinforce positive lifestyle changes. DWI courts also emphasize these principles (Fell, Tippetts, and Ciccel 2010).

Fiellin, Reid, and O'Connor (2000) conducted a study examining the effectiveness of multiple screening instruments – "CAGE," "AUDIT," and "MAST" – to gauge social and behavioral aspects of alcohol problems. The authors found that patients with alcohol dependence "typically require more intensive counseling in alcohol treatment programs than patients with less severe alcohol problems" (Fiellin, Reid, and O'Connor 200: 820-821). Hazel and Mohatt (2001) examined treatment and sobriety in Alaskan native communities. The study noted that there was an inextricable link between culture, spirituality, and one's sense of "native community" as it related to the ultimate goal of sobriety. In this report, recovering men typically reported seven reasons for resisting temptation and staying sober: acknowledging the benefits of sobriety, fearing the consequences of drinking, a conscious desire for sobriety, support from family, formal support programs, keeping active, and religion or spirituality. When the researchers conducted focus groups of recovering men, they found that sobriety was related to four themes – spirit, thought, physical, and feelings – at the individual, family, community, and world/environment levels. The researchers later administered a survey about one's experiences with drinking and sobriety. This survey identified a pivotal event, cognitive appraisal, social support, culture, and spirituality as key factors that guide alcoholics toward the "sobriety path" (Hazel and Mohatt 2001: 552-555).

2.3 Recidivism

Many studies have examined how impaired driving is related to recidivism. Approximately 35% of all DUI convictions are for drivers with a previous DUI conviction in the prior seven years (Schell, Chan, and Morral 2006). This is reaffirmed by Fell (1995), who found that roughly one-third of the drivers arrested for DWI are repeat offenders. It is known that DUI recidivists carry a higher risk of future DUI arrest (Gould and Gould 1992), have a higher risk of involvement in alcohol-related and non-alcoholrelated crashes (Perrine, Peck, and Fell 1988), and have a higher risk of being involved in fatal crashes (Fell and Klein 1994). DeMichele and Lowe (2011) assessed the likelihood of becoming a repeat offender using pilot risk assessment tools of the LSI-R and ASUS statistical techniques. The LSI-R is a commonly used risk assessment tool in community corrections and the ASUS measures substance use patterns and consequences. They assessed a sample of 3,884 convicted drink-driving offenders from a Southwest state and compared the one-time DUI offender with multiple-DUI offenders. They found that repeat offenders were more likely to have prior criminal history, less education, and more likely to have substance use than the single drink-driving offenders. Another study found that demographics such as gender, unemployment, and ethnicity also were factors in DUI recidivism (Nochajski and Stasiewicz 2006). Males were more likely to be recidivists than females. However, ethnicity depends on region and showed that the majority of the repeat DUI offenders were white in the Midwest, Northeast, Northwest, and the South whereas the majority of the recidivists were Hispanics or Native Americans in the Southwest.

The NHTSA developed a guide explaining appropriate sentencing for DWI offenders. Working collaboratively with the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA), the NHTSA identified six factors as critically important when dealing with DWI offenders to reduce recidivism:

- Evaluating offenders for alcohol-related problems and recidivism risk
- Selecting appropriate sanctions and remedies for each offender

- Including provisions for appropriate alcohol abuse or alcohol-dependent treatment in the sentencing order for offenders who require such treatment
- Monitoring the offender's compliance with the sanctions and treatment
- Acting swiftly to correct noncompliance
- Imposing vehicle sanctions, where appropriate, that make it difficult for offenders to drink and drive during said period (2006: 3).

With recidivism being a common characteristic of impaired drivers in fatal crashes, this problem should be addressed (Kleiman and Hawken 2008). The current parole system largely fails to rehabilitate the parolee's behavior leading to high recidivism rates. With this failure, it is important to find ways to address this problem as a potential means to reduce drink-driving, especially with repeat offenders. It is suggested that the best way is to use certainty over severity – responding to violations quicker and communicating the deterrent threat to the likely violators to minimize recidivism (Kleiman and Hawken 2008).

These techniques are used in programs such as the HOPE program and the South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project, and have shown some positive results in reducing recidivism among parolees who participate in the program (Kleiman and Hawken 2008). These community corrections programs conduct alcohol and drug screenings, paid by the offender, which are less costly than long-term jail sentences (Voas et al. 2011). Dill and Wells-Parker (2006) state that mandated alcohol treatment has been shown to reduce drink-driving and alcohol-related crashes among offenders who receive mandatory interventions. Dill and Wells-Parker also suggest that alcohol-related intervention and treatment in combination with licensing actions is the best strategy to reduce recidivism among drink-driving offenders. Advances in technology, such as the use of electronic monitoring devices for home detention and remote BAC monitoring, are other sanction options that can further decrease DUI recidivism (Dill and Wells-Parker 2006).

It is also important to note that DUI interventions do not necessarily work for every individual convicted of impaired driving. Interventions show different results for recidivism among those who complete an intervention program. One such study looked at driver performance related to a Drink-Impaired Drivers (DID) program in England and Wales (Palmer et al. 2012). The DID program used a cognitive-behavioral and educational approach and addressed attitudes that lead to drink-driving. The study recruited 375 participants, of which 144 were enrolled in the DID program and the other 235 served as a control group. Authors also tracked participants that dropped out of the program during the study as a separate group. The participants' collected data included age, previous convictions, and an Offender Group Reconviction Scale-2 (OGRS2). The OGRS2 estimates an offender's risk for reconviction within two years based on demographics and criminal history (Palmer et al. 2012). The rate of recidivism was higher among those who did not complete the intervention than for the other groups – those who completed the program and those in the control group (Palmer et al. 2012). The study recommends highlighting the factors associated with non-completion of the program and high rates of reconviction, and also advocates directing resources to those at high-risk for reconviction rather than those who are at a lower risk for reconviction.

Two programs identified as currently active and with positive initial results are the Hawaii Opportunity Probation with Enforcement (HOPE) program and the South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project. These interventions, which are focused on individual drivers and rehabilitation, have been implemented as strategies to reduce recidivism among drivers. The HOPE program is a broader program that has been used with criminal offenses far beyond impaired drivers. The 24/7 Sobriety Project has been targeted specifically at impaired drivers.

2.4 The HOPE Program

According to the Office of National Drug Control Policy (2011), the Hawaii Opportunity Probation with Enforcement (HOPE) was started in 2004 to break the cycle of repeating offenses. The program engages rigorous principles to keep probationers at high-risk of failure from breaking their probation terms and being sent back to prison. It is carried out by imposing "swift, certain, and short jail sanctions" for every violation of the probation terms (Office of National Drug Control Policy 2011).

The program's principles are to identify probationers who are at high-risk for probation violation and to notify them that for every probation violation there will be an immediate penalty. The program conducts frequent and random drug tests and imposes short jail sanctions for every detected violation. It also refers participants to drug treatment upon request or for probationers who are resistant to abstain from drugs while under sanctions (Office of National Drug Control Policy 2011).

The HOPE program is estimated to cost \$2,500 per program participant, which is more than standard probation terms but saves money in comparison with re-arrests and re-incarceration. The program was evaluated in 2009 by the National Institute of Justice, which concluded that of more than 1,500 HOPE program participants, they were 55% less likely to be arrested for new crimes, 72% less likely to use drugs, 61% less likely to miss appointments with their probation officer, and 53% less likely to have their probation revoked when compared with a control group.

The literature on the HOPE program discusses the positive effects it has on the participants as well as its cost effectiveness. The program's swiftness leads to longer lasting change unlike typical treatment programs (Kiyabu, Steinberg, and Yoshida 2010; DuPont and Skipper 2012). Specific impacts of the HOPE program were not found regarding alcohol-impaired driving.

2.5 The South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project: A Model for North Dakota and Other States

Another program that uses tactics similar to the HOPE program in targeting repeat driving under the influence (DUI) offenders is the South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project. The pilot program was started under former Attorney General Larry Long in 2005 due to South Dakota's high alcohol and drug-related incarcerations. Between 1999 and 2007, 59% of South Dakota's nearly 25,000 felonies were related to drugs and alcohol (Long 2009) and 13.6% of the incarcerated were DUI offenders (Loudenburg, Drube, and Leonardson 2010). The South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Program was started as an alternative for DUI incarceration, but as of 2009 only 59% of the participants were DUI offenders and the remaining 41% were enrolled in the program for other offenses (Loudenburg, Drube, and Leonardson 2010).

The program operates by requiring participants to be tested for alcohol by measures such as reporting twice daily for breath testing, wearing an ankle bracelet to electronically monitor alcohol, and using a drug patch or urine testing as a means for their probation (Voas et al. 2011). The project has strict enforcement: if offenders pass the alcohol screening tests, their days carry on as usual. However, if they fail an alcohol screening test or do not show up to take it, the offenders go directly to jail (Chavers 2008). An evaluation conducted by Mountain Plains Evaluation, LLC on the South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project shows that the program has some success and suggests further studies be conducted on its effectiveness as more data become available (Loudenburg, Drube, and Leonardson 2010). A comparison analysis on recidivism was conducted for the 24/7 Sobriety Project evaluation report. It was found that the participants of the 24/7 Sobriety Project had a 74%, 44%, and 31% reduction in recidivism on their second, third, and fourth DUI, respectively. The reductions in DUI recidivism exceed the reported

reductions for other interventions such as educational interventions and sanctions found throughout the literature. DuPont and Skipper (2012) also noted that DUI offenders in the 24/7 Sobriety Project had lower rates of DUI recidivism when compared with control groups not enrolled in the program. A study by Kilmer et al. (2013) looked at differences between counties when comparing changes in DUI arrests, arrests for domestic violence, and traffic crashes in South Dakota counties with and without the 24/7 Sobriety Project. The authors found a 12% reduction in repeat DUI arrests, a 9% reduction in domestic violence arrests, and mixed results for traffic crashes. Currently, RAND Corporation, a nonpartisan research organization, is conducting a study on the effectiveness of the South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project funded by the National Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (Office of National Drug Control Policy 2011).

South Dakota's 24/7 Sobriety Project is now imitated in North Dakota, Montana, and parts of Wyoming (Brown 2012). The North Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Program was one of six programs chosen for a Secure Continuous Remote Alcohol Monitoring (SCRAM) study by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration and the Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation. The case study found that transdermal alcohol monitoring was beneficial to courts and probation and parole departments in all the case study sites, and that research is needed to study whether transdermal alcohol monitoring reduces drinking and DUI recidivism among offenders (McKnight, Fell, and Auld-Owens 2012).

2.6 Implementing the 24/7 Sobriety Program in North Dakota

North Dakota's 24/7 Sobriety Program is modeled directly after the South Dakota program. Program authorization is granted by North Dakota Century Code 54-12-27 through 54-12-31. These statutes grant the Attorney General the ability to use the program, establish program fees, create program funding, and establish the program's use as conditions of bond for offenders (North Dakota Century Code 54-12-27 – 54-12-31). A pilot program was first authorized by the North Dakota legislature in 2007 to administer breath tests for alcohol offenders in select parts of the state (Fisher, McKnight, and Fell 2013). On January 1, 2008, the pilot program began in 12 counties in the South Central Judicial District, and statewide implementation was completed in August 2010 on account of the success of the pilot study (Fisher, McKnight, and Fell 2013).

For the majority of the program's existence, DUI offenders were assigned to the program at the discretion of judges. This allowed for individuals with other alcohol-related offenses – such as domestic violence or abuse/neglect of a child – to also be enrolled in the program. New legislation implemented on August 1, 2013, however, now mandates that any repeat DUI offender will be required to participate in the program as a condition of bond or pre-trial release (Fisher, McKnight, and Fell 2013).

Like South Dakota's 24/7 Sobriety Project, North Dakota DUI offenders are required to have twice-daily breath tests or, alternatively, urinalysis and/or ankle bracelet monitoring. Some offenders may also be required to wear a drug patch if deemed necessary by the judge. Like the South Dakota model, DUI offenders in North Dakota are also required to pay for each breath test or alcohol monitoring system. This makes the program self-sustainable as it is fully funded by DUI offenders. The most recent available data indicate that more than 98% of the individuals placed in the 24/7 Sobriety Program successfully complete it (North Dakota Attorney General 2013).

Impaired driving is an endemic safety and public health problem in the United States (Voas and Fell 2011). The seriousness of this problem is evident in the involvement of impaired drivers in fatal crashes. This creates unnecessary financial and societal costs on other road users in the form of lost lives and medical expenditures (NHTSA 2010). The implementation of laws to reduce impaired driving did substantially reduce road crashes when initially introduced two decades ago. It is evident in the current

crash, court, and incarceration literature, however, that more must be done to further improve these numbers (Voas and Fell 2011). The problem of impaired driving recidivism is evident via multiple studies from multiple research disciplines. The failure of the parole system to deter recidivism in impaired drivers has led to new versions of parole systems in some regions that use certainty over severity. These new systems respond to violations quicker and communicate the deterrent threat with the belief that violators will subsequently minimize recidivism (Kleiman and Hawken 2008). Examples of these programs are found in the HOPE Program and the South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Project. These programs have the sole purpose to make roads safe and keep communities safer. The forthcoming analysis will contribute to the current understanding of the 24/7 Sobriety Program as effects are measured during early implementation in North Dakota.

3. METHODS

Individual records were obtained from two data sets. First, the North Dakota Bureau of Criminal Investigation (BCI) provided the research team with historical records of North Dakotans enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program. This database encompassed just over six full years of driver records from a 2008 to 2014 study period. The first record in the database occurred in February 2008 during the pilot program era. The most recent record was entered in April 2014, shortly before the data were transferred to the researchers. This original data transfer consisted of 4,354 records. Of the original 4,354 records, 726 were not used for the purposes of this study. These unused records consisted of duplicated entries, drivers under the age of 18, or drivers enrolled in the program for non-traffic alcohol-related reasons. (For example, it is possible to be enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program upon conviction of domestic violence, child neglect, or other crimes in the event that the individual is impaired at the time of arrest. For the purposes of this study, only traffic-related alcohol crimes were considered relevant.) After these 726 records were removed from the original BCI data, there were 3,628 valid traffic-related records tracking 24/7 Sobriety Program participants.

Second, the valid 24/7 Sobriety Program records were matched to driver's license records provided to the research team by the North Dakota Department of Transportation. This driver's license database includes both crash and conviction information for North Dakota drivers. Thus, if a link is established connecting these two databases, it then becomes possible to track individual drivers enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program with regard to crashes and convictions before, during, and after enrollment in the program.

Two methods were used to link 24/7 Sobriety Program records with driver's license records. First, the date of birth of the driver and subsequent conviction date for the impaired driving crime were connected from the two data sets. This combination process provided a very strong source of data matching, though just 19.1% of data points were matched using this technique. Second, for the remaining unmatched cases, driver date of birth was coupled with gender, and cases were manually sorted. This process matched 41.5% of the remaining unmatched cases. Ultimately, of the 3,628 records in the 24/7 Sobriety Program data set, 1,910 were able to be matched to driver's license records for an overall matching rate of 52.6%. These matched cases serve as the primary data source used in the analysis.

Once records were matched, the database was cleaned and a series of variables were created for use in various statistical analyses. These variables include DUI history pre-enrollment, BAC results preenrollment, the date of enrollment in the 24/7 Sobriety Program, the type of alcohol monitoring system used by the offending driver, impaired driving counts during program enrollment, non-DUI convictions during program enrollment, traffic crashes during program enrollment, and BAC levels for offenders who recidivate during program enrollment, among others. One variable highlighted the type of monitoring system being used to track program participants. Within this variable, it was discovered that 17 participants were tracked using only a drug patch. Since the focus of this research paper is on understanding impaired driver behavior, these 17 records were eliminated from the database as they were not specific to impaired driving. The final database consisted of 1,893 impaired driving-related records.

Per the data agreement between NDSU and the BCI, once the data were cleaned and useful variables were created, personal identification information was removed from the database to protect the anonymity of DUI offenders. For all drivers in the final data set, the first name, middle name, last name, date of birth, and address were removed prior to any statistical analyses being performed. Results from the forthcoming data analysis will be discussed in aggregate.

3.1 Data Characteristics

3.1.1 Program Start Year

As expected, a majority of the DUI offenders in this sample started the program in calendar year 2011, calendar year 2012, or calendar year 2013 (Table 3.1). It is evident that during the three full years of data provided to the researchers, enrollment in the program grew steadily. Undoubtedly, some of this growth in 2013 can be attributed to the new legislation mandating that repeat offenders participate in the 24/7 Sobriety Program.

Start Year	Number of Offenders	Percent of Sample
20081	72	3.8%
20091	110	5.8%
2010_2	244	12.9%
2011	359	19.0%
2012	412	21.8%
2013	573	30.3%
20143	123	6.5%
24/7 Sobriety Program was		0.070

 Table 3.1 Program Start Year of Offenders in Sample

2 24/7 Sobriety Program was used statewide starting on August 1, 2010

³ Figure is based on enrollment through April 2014

3.1.2 Demographic Information

In this sample of DUI offenders, men outnumbered women at roughly a three-to-one ratio; 77.3% of participants were male and 22.7% were female. This follows other studies of DUI offenders in the state (Huseth and Kubas 2012). Younger drivers had a higher representation in the sample than older drivers (Table 3.2). A majority (56.9%) in the sample were under age 34, which parallels other statewide studies finding that 18-to-34 year-olds exhibit behaviors at odds with traffic safety goals, such as operating a vehicle after consuming alcohol more frequently than others (Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2014). This is especially true for male drivers, as this particular group has been labeled as high-risk throughout the literature. It is worth noting that, in this sample, drivers in two age cohorts – those between ages 65 and 74 and those older than 75 – have fewer than 30 offenders in their respective age groups. Sample sizes smaller than 30 are not considered reliable when conducting tests of significance and cannot be extrapolated to fit the entire demographic being studied. Therefore, any conclusions made in this report about the 65-to-74 year-old age group or the 75+ cohort cannot be considered representative of all DUI offenders in those age groups in North Dakota.

Age CohortNumber of Offenders18-24429	Percent of Sample 22.7% 34.2%
	24 20/
25-34 647	J4.∠%
35-44 398	21.0%
45-54 309	16.3%
55-64 92	4.9%
65-74 16	0.8%
75+ 2	0.1%

Table 3.2 Offenders in Sample, by Age

3.1.3 Monitoring System

Once enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program, participants must remain sober for the duration of the enrollment period. In order for the offender to stay accountable and remain sober when in the program, regular alcohol testing must occur. In North Dakota, multiple alcohol monitoring systems are utilized as part of the 24/7 Sobriety Program. These systems include twice-a-day preliminary breath tests, secure continuous remote alcohol monitoring (SCRAM) ankle bracelets that require data to be uploaded to a database at various times based on user download frequency, wireless SCRAM bracelets that automatically upload data every 30 minutes to the database, and urinalysis testing. Some respondents, as advocated by judicial discretion, may be subjected to more than one monitoring system when enrolled in the program. Of the 1,893 offenders in this sample, about four-fifths (1,504 enrollees) were monitored with only one type of alcohol-testing system. The majority of participants (67.8%) in this sample were monitored with twice-a-day preliminary breath tests only (Table 3.3). Of the remaining 391 program participants who were subjected to two or more alcohol-monitoring systems, nearly 95% were monitored by both the twice-a-day preliminary breath tests and SCRAM ankle bracelets. Just five participants were monitored simultaneously by three monitoring systems. For these five participants, two alcohol-testing systems were used in conjunction with drug patches; therefore no participant was subjected to being monitored by more than two alcohol-monitoring devices at once.

Table 3.3 Womtornig Systems		
Monitoring System	Number of Offenders	Percent of Sample
Preliminary Breath Test only	1,295	67.8%
Preliminary Breath Test and SCRAM	372	19.5%
SCRAM only	209	10.9%
Drug Patch only*	17	0.9%
Drug Patch and Preliminary Breath Test	8	0.4%
Drug Patch, Preliminary Breath Test, and SCRAM	5	0.3%
Drug Patch and SCRAM	2	0.1%
Preliminary Breath Test and Urinalysis	1	0.05%
Preliminary Breath Test and SCRAM Wireless	1	0.05%

Table 3.3 Monitoring Systems

*Data provided to the researchers included some individuals tracked by drug patch only. These individuals are excluded from the analysis as this report of 24/7 Sobriety Program participants requires at least one alcohol monitoring system.

3.1.4 Recidivist Status

In general, most studies monitoring the behaviors and patterns of alcohol abusers define recidivists as anyone who relapses into repetitive criminal behaviors. With regard to driving under the influence of alcohol, repeat DUI offenders are considered to be among the most dangerous drivers as their habitual use of alcohol and subsequent decisions to drive while impaired pose a major threat on the roadway. Studies throughout the literature validate that these drivers do, in fact, pose a safety threat to other drivers sharing the road. For the purposes of this study, however, the term "recidivist" will refer to drivers in the 24/7 Sobriety Program who committed a DUI violation after enrolling in the program. This definition will be used because 95.1% of the sample had at least one DUI conviction on record *before* starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program (Table 3.4). Therefore, almost every individual in the sample is classified as a recidivist by standard definitions and analysis of such a homogeneous group would be impractical.

Number of DUI Arrests on Record	Number of Participants
1	607
2	817
3	287
4	67
5	18
6	4

Table 3.4 Impaired Driving Arrests on Record before Starting 24/7 Sobriety Program

Based on this study's definition of a recidivist driver, two levels of recidivism will be examined: high-risk recidivists and moderate-risk recidivists. High-risk recidivists are classified as those drivers receiving a DUI conviction within 60 days of entering the 24/7 Sobriety Program. An arbitrary period of 60 days was chosen because – prior to the latest legislative changes made in House Bill 1302 – this represents the average time a DUI offender was sentenced to the program (McKnight, Fell, and Auld-Owens 2012). In this sample of impaired driving offenders, 77.2% began the 24/7 Sobriety Program prior to the enactment of House Bill 1302. Therefore, a majority of the sample was subjected to the program for a period of 60 days – though it should be noted that some enrollment lengths could be shorter or longer due to judicial discretion. Moderate-risk recidivists are categorized as those drivers who received a DUI conviction after the 60-day window as this represents offenders who most likely completed the program. In this sample of offenders, 53 (2.8%) were convicted of DUI within 60 days of starting the program and are considered high-risk recidivists. A smaller share of 204 drivers (10.8%) were convicted of DUI at some point after 60 days of beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program. These individuals represent moderate-risk recidivists in this sample.

4. RESULTS

Data will be reported both in terms of general trends and specific differences between driver groups. Descriptive consideration must occur to account for overall patterns among DUI offenders. Beyond these overall trends, different hypothesis testing statistical procedures – Chi-Square tests and one-way ANOVAs – will be used to determine if there are differences in DUI offenders when factoring for various driver groups. This information will be provided to highlight possible differences in DUI violations, BAC levels, non-DUI citations, and crash trends.

4.1 Descriptive Statistics

4.1.1 Impaired Driving Events

Within the first year of being enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program, there were 191 DUI convictions made by 182 unique drivers. Seven drivers had multiple DUI arrests within one year of starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program. In sum, of the 1,893 DUI offenders in this sample, 175 (9.2%) committed one DUI violation within one year of starting the program, six (0.3%) committed two DUI violations within one year of their program start date, and one driver (0.1%) had four impaired driving violations within one year of starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Of the 182 drivers who committed an impaired driving violation within one year of starting the program, the citation was most commonly received within the first three months of being enrolled in the program; over two-fifths (40.1%) received a DUI citation in this timeframe. Beyond the initial three months, impaired driving convictions tapered off slightly (Figure 4.1). It is clear that program participants have a strong chance of reoffending within the first 90 days of being enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Therefore, it is crucial to monitor offenders during these first three months, as maintaining sobriety appears to be more common thereafter. It should be emphasized that there were moderate peaks between the sixth and seventh month and the 11th and 12th month, though the proportion of enrollees offending in these months was noticeably smaller than those offending within the first 90 days. Considering that some studies associate habitual alcohol use with addiction and/or a lack of self-control, it is reasonable to assume that enrollees reoffending within the first 90 days may have underlying issues with alcohol dependency.



Figure 4.1 Impaired Driving Events by Program Enrollees within One Year from Start Date

From an annual perspective, program participants are most likely to have an impaired driving event within the first year of starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program (Figure 4.2). The majority of drivers who reoffend (70.8%) and the majority of total DUI citations (67.5%) were represented in the first year of starting the program. In this sample of enrollees, impaired driving events consistently declined thereafter.



Figure 4.2 Annual Impaired Driving Events by Program Enrollees

4.1.1.1 Overall BAC Levels before Starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program

It is possible to track BAC level by offender, but only if the offender chose to submit to chemical testing. There was a positive linear link between BAC level prior to beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program and the number of DUIs on record: those with more DUIs had a higher average BAC level (R^2 =0.9637) (Figure 4.3). This is expected as multiple DUI offenses are typically uncommon and may be a sign of chemical



Figure 4.3 Offender BAC Level before Starting Program, by Number of DUIs on Record

dependency. It should be mentioned that there were only 18 valid BAC level entries for program participants with at least five DUIs on record prior to beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Therefore, although this number provides a strong indication of trends within this sample, this particular BAC value should not be considered representative of a typical BAC level for all DUI offenders in North Dakota with five DUIs on record.

4.1.1.2 Overall BAC Levels after Starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program

After starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program, some drivers continued to operate a vehicle while impaired in spite of the treatment received during enrollment. A total of 257 offenders committed 283 impaired driving violations. Most offenders (91.1%) committed just one additional DUI violation, but there was one offender who had four DUI citations on record after beginning the program.

The average BAC level of an offender after enrolling in the 24/7 Sobriety Program follows a negative linear trend (R²=0.9231) (Figure 4.4). It should be emphasized, however, that there were less than 30 participants who committed two or three DUI violations and the individual who committed four violations refused to submit to chemical testing. It should also be reiterated that these figures do not represent before-and-after changes as these are only meant to show general trends across the impaired driving population. Links between individual drivers and the influence the program had with regard to before-and-after changes are discussed in section 4.3 of this report.



Figure 4.4 Offender BAC Level after Starting Program, by Number of DUIs on Record

4.1.2 Non-DUI-Related Convictions

It is important to track trends in non-DUI-related convictions, as convictions related to alcohol are known to spread across other dimensions as well. It is not uncommon for someone with an alcohol-related conviction on record to also have convictions related to illegal drug use, domestic violence, reckless driving, and so forth. Therefore, highlighting potential improvements to non-DUI-related convictions after a participant has started the 24/7 Sobriety Program may shed light into how this program successfully deters crime beyond just impaired driving.

Figure 4.5 provides a snapshot of participant arrest trends for non-DUI-related citations. Citations follow a distinct negative linear trend: as non-DUI-related citations increase, there are fewer program participants with that many citations on record. Interestingly, program participants most commonly (17.4%) had zero non-DUI-related citations. This may be indicative of two scenarios. First, it is plausible that some program participants may have no criminal history whatsoever. Perhaps these individuals simply had too much to drink, made a mistake in judgment, and chose to operate a vehicle while impaired. Subsequently, these offenders got caught violating the law and were then enrolled in the program. Second, it is also possible that some offenders have a history of DUI-only violations. These individuals would be appropriately categorized as alcohol abusers and represent a major risk on the road. The data provided to the researchers does not specify the type of non-DUI violation on record for program participants; therefore it is impossible to distinguish these two categories of drivers from one another.



Figure 4.5 Non-DUI-Related Citations before Starting Program

A similar negative linear trend emerges when factoring for non-DUI-related citations after program enrollment (Figure 4.6). One difference is that the majority of program participants (70.4%) have no non-DUI-related citation on record after being enrolled in the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Like BAC level, however, this should be interpreted with caution: this does not show a cause-and-effect relationship between participant behavior before and after enrollment in the program. Changes linked to individual participants and these citations are discussed further in section 4.3 of this report.



Figure 4.6 Non-DUI-Related Citations after Starting Program

4.1.3 Crash Trends

About half of all DUI offenders in this study (44.9%) had a traffic crash on record prior to starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program (Figure 4.7). A much smaller proportion (7.4%) was involved in a traffic crash after enrolling in the program (Figure 4.8). This does not explain a cause-and-effect relationship, but does show that traffic crashes were less prevalent after enrollment. The data given to the researchers do not include information about impairment at the time of the crash. Therefore, it is unknown if the crash was due to the influence of alcohol. Moreover, there was no variable in the data set indicating crash severity. It is possible that some of the crashes encompassed in Figures 4.7 and 4.8 were minor property-damage-only collisions without impairment. It is also possible that the crashes could have resulted in serious injuries as a result of operating a vehicle under the influence of alcohol. Without these additional variables, it is impossible to make accurate claims regarding crash severity and/or impairment.



Figure 4.7 Crashes before Starting 24/7 Sobriety Program



Figure 4.8 Crashes after Starting 24/7 Sobriety Program

4.2 Driver Groups

It is important to analyze the response of different variables – DUI convictions, non-DUI convictions, BAC levels, and crashes – when factoring for individual driver groups. Differences across groups can help explain behavior and can also be used to target safety strategies to high-risk groups. Four driver groups will be examined as discussed in the methods section of this report: gender, age, recidivist status, and prior impaired driving history.

4.2.1 Gender

Dangerous driving behaviors have been associated with emotional responses and riskier personalities. Studies show that individuals with higher risk-taking behaviors are more likely to drive dangerously, even after being involved in a traffic crash (Lin et al. 2004). Therefore, it is prudent to track the impaired driving metrics used in this study in multiple ways. Program participants should be analyzed with two approaches: first, by comparing participants who have ever been categorized by one of the impaired driving metrics; and, second, by comparing the total number of times a participant has been categorized by each individual impaired driving metric.

There were some differences across gender when comparing participants who have ever had one of the impaired driving metrics (Table 4.1). For example, women were more likely to have had at least one DUI conviction prior to starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program (Chi-Sq.=11.032, df=1, p=0.001) but men were more likely to have committed at least one DUI violation after enrolling in the program (Chi-Sq.=9.512, df=1, p=0.002). This suggests that the program has a greater influence on women with regard to committing a DUI violation: on average, females have a smaller likelihood of committing at least one DUI violation after starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Given this relationship, it is logical that women were more likely to have had a failed BAC test prior to starting the program (Chi-Sq.=6.433, df=1, p=0.011) and men were more likely to have had a failed BAC test after enrolling in the program (Chi-Sq.=9.929, df=1, p=0.002). Again, it appears as though the program has a more noticeable influence on women than on men.

Metric	Gei	Significance	
	Male	Female	
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.94	0.98	**
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.15	0.09	**
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.82	0.85	
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.30	0.28	
Crash, before Program Start	0.42	0.54	**
Crash, after Program Start	0.07	0.08	
BAC Test, before Program Start	0.82	0.87	*
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.15	0.09	**
**Significant at the 1% level for Chi-Square test			
*Significant at the 5% level for Chi-Square test			

Table 4.1 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by Gender

In terms of the total number of convictions and crashes committed by program participants (Table 4.2), results were comparable to those found in Table 4.1. In this sample of DUI offenders, the average 24/7 Sobriety Program participant had 1.84 DUI convictions before enrolling in the program. On average, women had more DUI convictions before starting the program than did men; the difference was statistically significant at the 5% level (F=5.194, df=1, p=0.023). Men, however, had more DUI convictions after starting the program. This difference was statistically significant at the 1% level (F=9.333, df=1, p=0.002). Men once again were also more likely to have failed a BAC test after enrolling in the program (F=7.010, df=1, p=0.008). This parallels earlier findings and once again indicates that the 24/7 Sobriety Program has a stronger deterrent effect on women than on men.

Men also had more non-DUI convictions on their records before starting the program. On average, men in this sample of DUI offenders had 3.82 non-DUI-related convictions compared with just 3.31 for women. This difference was statistically significant at the 5% level (F=6.219, df=1, p=0.013).

Like those program participants who have ever had a crash, with regard to the average total number of crashes on one's record, women once again had a higher average number of crashes than did men (F=10.355, df=1, p=0.001). On average, women had 0.78 crashes before starting the program and men had just 0.62 prior crashes. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups with regard to the average number of crashes after starting the sobriety program. This once again suggests that the program had a positive influence on females with regard to safer driving practices as women shifted from being worse than men to being on par with men after program enrollment for this metric.

Metric		Mean Val	ue	Significance
	Total	Male	Female	
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	1.84	1.81	1.93	#
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.15	0.16	0.10	##
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	3.71	3.82	3.31	#
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.59	0.60	0.56	
Crash, before Program Start	0.66	0.62	0.78	##
Crash, after Program Start	0.08	0.08	0.09	
BAC Test, before Program Start	1.48	1.46	1.55	
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.15	0.17	0.11	##
##Significant at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA#Significant at the 5% level for 1-way ANOVA				

 Table 4.2 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by Gender

4.2.2 Age

Some noticeable trends emerged when examining impaired driving-related crime across age cohorts (Table 4.3). With regard to statistically significant differences, younger 24/7 Sobriety Program participants were more likely to have at least one violation on record than were older participants. For instance, whereas 90% of 18-to-24 year-olds had at least one non-DUI-related conviction on record before starting the program, just 74% of participants over the age of 55 had at least one non-DUI-related conviction. This difference was statistically significant at the 1% level (Chi-Sq.=30.381, df=4, p<0.001). A consistent decline across age groups with regard to non-DUI-related convictions was also evident once participants started the program, though this difference was statistically significant at the 5% level (Chi-Sq.=12.235, df=4, p=0.016).

The same reduction across age groups was evident when factoring for traffic crashes prior to enrolling in the program. Interestingly, younger drivers were once again more likely to have at least one traffic crash on record prior to starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program. This is especially alarming considering that older drivers have likely had a driver's license for a longer period of time, and thus, have had a greater chance of being involved in a traffic crash. In this sample of DUI offenders, 59% of 18-24 year-olds were involved in at least one crash before enrolling in the program, a much larger percentage than the 35% of participants over age 55 who had a crash on record (Chi-Sq.=49.771, df=4, p<0.001).

Metric	Mean Value				Sig.	
	18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55+ ₁	
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.94	0.95	0.96	0.94	0.98	_
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.16	0.14	0.12	0.14	0.06	
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.90	0.83	0.81	0.76	0.74	**
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.34	0.30	0.29	0.26	0.20	*
Crash, before Program Start	0.59	0.45	0.38	0.38	0.35	**
Crash, after Program Start	0.08	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.04	
BAC Test, before Program Start	0.82	0.83	0.84	0.83	0.85	
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.16	0.14	0.13	0.13	0.05	

The 65-74 and 75+ age cohorts were merged with the 55-64 age group because there were fewer than 30 drivers in those cohorts
**Significant at the 1% level for Chi-Square test

*Significant at the 5% level for Chi-Square test

With the exception of DUI convictions prior to enrolling in the program, the total number of impaired driving-related crimes once again declined as age increased (Table 4.4). For instance, 18-to-24 year-olds had an average of 4.95 non-DUI convictions on record before starting the program, yet those over age 55 had an average of just 2.41 non-DUI convictions (F=23.816, df=4, p<0.001). Once again, on average, younger drivers had more non-DUI convictions after enrolling in the program than did older drivers (F=4.066, df=4, p=0.003). The same pattern occurred when factoring for traffic crashes before starting the program (F=16.161, df=4, p<0.001).

One variable – the number of DUI convictions on record prior to starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program – followed a different trend. The number of prior DUI convictions generally increased with age, though there was a slight decrease between the 35-to-44 and 45-to-54 year-old cohorts. Nonetheless, those over age 55 had the greatest average number of DUI convictions before starting the program (1.96) and those in the 18-to-24 year-old age group had the fewest (1.63). This difference was statistically significant at the 1% level (F=76.799, df=4, p<0.001).

Mean Value				Sig.	
18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55+ ₁	
1.63	1.91	1.93	1.81	1.96	##
0.18	0.16	0.13	0.15	0.06	
4.95	3.77	3.48	2.60	2.41	##
0.76	0.59	0.58	0.49	0.31	##
0.94	0.65	0.53	0.51	0.49	##
0.09	0.09	0.08	0.08	0.05	
1.36	1.52	1.51	1.53	1.54	
0.18	0.16	0.14	0.16	0.06	
-	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.63\\ 0.18\\ 4.95\\ 0.76\\ 0.94\\ 0.09\\ 1.36\\ 0.18\\ \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 4.4 Mean Values Displaying	g Total Participant Violations, by Age
----------------------------------	--

/The 65-74 and 75+ age cohorts were merged with the 55-64 age group because there were fewer that cohorts

##Significant at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA

4.2.3 Recidivist Status

Although four impaired driving-related metrics have been studied thus far in this report, only two will be examined when addressing recidivist drivers: non-DUI convictions and crashes. The justification for this approach is that, by definition, in order to be classified as a recidivist a participant must have a failed BAC test and have a subsequent DUI conviction. Therefore, it is to be expected that recidivist drivers will have a statistically higher likelihood of DUI conviction and at least one failed BAC test. What is important for safety experts to know is whether or not these individuals pose a threat to other drivers beyond the realm of impaired driving.

4.2.3.1 High-Risk Recidivists

With regard to high-risk recidivist status, the effect of the 24/7 Sobriety Program on non-DUI convictions is minimal (Table 4.5). High-risk recidivists are less likely to have at least one non-DUI conviction on record before starting the program (Chi-Sq.=25.537, df=1, p<0.001) but are more likely to have a non-DUI conviction after enrolling in the program (Chi-Sq.=21.771, df=1, p<0.001). There was no statistically significant difference in this sample when looking at changes among high-risk recidivists before and after enrolling in the 24/7 Sobriety Program (t=-0.227, df=52, p=0.821). Whereas 57% of high-risk recidivists had at least one non-DUI conviction before starting the program, 58% of the same group had at least one non-DUI conviction after enrollment – a higher total after program intervention. In contrast, there was a noticeable decline among all other participants: 83% had at least one non-DUI conviction before enrollment. This number declined to just 29% after program participation (t=41.627, df=1,839, p<0.001).

Interestingly, both high-risk recidivists and non-high-risk recidivists had reductions in crash rates after enrolling in the program. This indicates that although recidivating appears to be linked to other crimes, it may not extend into behind-the-wheel danger. Nonetheless, it should be noted that non-high-risk recidivists had a much larger reduction than did high-risk recidivists.

Table 4.5 Mean values Displaying Participants with at Least	One violation, by High-Rish	Status		
Metric	Mean Value	Mean Value		
	High-Risk Recidivist	Other		
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.57	0.83	**	
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.58	0.29	**	
Crash, before Program Start	0.19	0.46	**	
Crash, after Program Start	0.13	0.07		
**Statistically significant difference at 1% level for Chi-Square test				

Table 4.5 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by High-Risk Status

Similar patterns emerged when analyzing high-risk recidivists by the total number of violations committed (Table 4.6). On average, high-risk recidivists once again had fewer non-DUI convictions before starting the program (F=7.016, df=1, p=0.008) but more non-DUI convictions after enrollment (F=8.814, df=1, p=0.003). This implies that – with regard to non-DUI crime – the program had a greater deterrent effect on non-high-risk recidivists than on those who reoffended within 60 days of beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program.

One contrast when analyzing the data by the total number of violations is that – even though high-risk recidivists had more non-DUI convictions than other participants after enrolling in the program – this dangerous driving group had a statistically significant improvement before and after program intervention (t=2.875, df=52, p=0.006). The same result took place for non-high-risk recidivists (t=35.887, df=1,839, p<0.001). In other words, although the 24/7 Sobriety Program has a larger deterrent effect on non-high-risk participants, it still has a noticeable influence on high-risk offenders as well.

Metric	Mean Value		Sig.
	High-Risk Recidivist	Other	
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	2.38	3.75	##
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	1.08	0.58	##
Crash, before Program Start	0.23	0.67	##
Crash, after Program Start	0.13	0.08	
##Statistically significant difference at 1% level for 1-way ANOVA			

Table 4.6 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by High-Risk Status

4.2.3.2 Moderate-Risk Recidivists

Moderate-risk recidivists display similar behaviors to their high-risk counterparts. Moderate-risk recidivists were less likely to have had at least one non-DUI conviction before starting the program (Chi-Sq.=5.904, df=1, p=0.015) yet were more likely to have had at least one non-DUI conviction after enrollment (Chi-Sq.=201.917, df=1, p<0.001) (Table 4.7). Like high-risk recidivists, the proportion of moderate-risk participants with non-DUI convictions before and after program intervention remains relatively constant (t=1.089, df=203, p=0.277) yet declines significantly for others (t=44.131, df=1,688, p<0.001). Once again, based on how the concept of risk is constructed in this study, the program is less influential on risky participants with regard to non-DUI-related crime.

In terms of traffic crashes, moderate-risk recidivists were just as likely as other participants to have had at least one crash before beginning the program (Chi-Sq.=2.988, df=1, p=0.084). However, this group was more likely to have at least one crash after starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program (Chi-Sq.=53.866, df=1, p<0.001). Nevertheless, before-and-after results show positive trends: fewer moderate-risk recidivists have at least one crash on record after participating in the program (t=4.308, df=203, p<0.001). The same situation took place for other program participants (t=29.633, df=1,688, p<0.001). Although these crashes may not be directly attributable to alcohol consumption, these initial trends provide an early indicator as to how the program positively impacts other traffic safety concerns beyond impaired driving.

Metric	Mean Value		Sig.
	Moderate-Risk	Other	
	Recidivist		
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.76	0.83	*
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.73	0.24	**
Crash, before Program Start	0.39	0.46	
Crash, after Program Start	0.20	0.06	**
**Statistically significant difference at 1% level for Chi-Square test			

 Table 4.7 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by Moderate-Risk Status

There were no statistically significant differences between moderate-risk recidivists and all other offenders in this sample prior to beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program when factoring for the average number of non-DUI convictions (F=0.181, df=1, p=0.671) and crashes (F=1.837, df=1, p=0.175) on one's record. However, after enrolling in the program there were notable differences (Table 4.8). Upon starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program, moderate-risk offenders on average had more non-DUI convictions (F=233.166, df=1, p<0.001) and more traffic crashes (F=59.750, df=1, p<0.001). Moderate-risk participants did show significant before-and-after improvement for these two metrics (t=7.492, df=203, p<0.001 and t=4.734, df=203, p<0.001, respectively) but this group still had higher average levels of dangerous behavior.

Table 4.8 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by Moderate-Risk Status

Metric	Mean Value	;	Sig.
	Moderate-Risk	Other	
	Recidivist		
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	3.60	3.72	-
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	1.74	0.45	##
Crash, before Program Start	0.58	0.67	
Crash, after Program Start	0.25	0.07	##
##Statistically significant difference at 1% level for 1-way ANOVA			

4.2.4 Prior Impaired Driving History

Examining the impaired driving histories of participants sheds light into whether or not there are differences based on prior alcohol abuse. As mentioned in the literature, repeat offenders have been associated with habitual alcohol use and/or issues with self-control. Therefore, it is plausible that participants with more DUI convictions on record may exhibit more dangerous behaviors across the driving spectrum. This assertion appears to be somewhat correct (see Table 4.9 and Table 4.10). For instance, participants with more DUI convictions on record before starting the program had more non-DUI convictions as well (F=37.312, df=3, p<0.001). Before beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program, the same exact trend occurred for crashes: participants with more DUI convictions were also, on average, more likely to have been in a crash (F=11.840, df=3, p<0.001).

Interestingly, there were no statistically significant differences across impaired driving history with regard to traffic crashes after beginning the program. This pattern occurred when examined by participants with at least one crash on record (Chi-Sq.=3.838, df=3, p=0.280) or by the average number of crashes on record (F=2.091, df=3, p=0.099). The program had a positive deterrent effect with regard to traffic collisions for especially dangerous drivers as crash rates by drivers with more prior DUI convictions were reduced and comparable after beginning the program – a positive sign of the program's effectiveness.

Metric	Pri	or Impair	ed Drivir	ng	Sig.
	(Convictio	ons		
	1	2	3	4 + 1	
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	_
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.11	0.09	0.09	0.16	
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.73	0.89	0.92	0.98	**
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.24	0.29	0.36	0.31	**
Crash, before Program Start	0.40	0.48	0.52	0.55	**
Crash, after Program Start	0.06	0.07	0.08	0.10	
BAC Test, before Program Start	0.65	0.97	1.00	0.99	**
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.11	0.10	0.13	0.15	
Drivers with 4, 5, or 6 DUI convictions prior to starting the program	m were combined in	to one grou	up due to sa	ample size	

Table 4.9 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by History

Drivers with 4, 5, or 6 DUI convictions prior to starting the program were combined into one group due to sample s **Significant at the 1% level for Chi-Square test

Table 4.10 Mean Values Displaying Total Participant Violations, by History

Metric	Pri	or Impain	ed Drivi	ng	Sig.
	(Convictio	ons	•	C
	1	2	3	4 + 1	_
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	1.00	2.00	3.00	4.29	##
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.12	0.09	0.09	0.22	##
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	2.70	4.15	4.54	6.09	##
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.52	0.59	0.70	0.57	
Crash, before Program Start	0.53	0.69	0.84	0.99	##
Crash, after Program Start	0.06	0.09	0.09	0.13	
BAC Test, before Program Start	0.72	1.61	2.55	3.51	##
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.13	0.11	0.15	0.19	

¹Drivers with 4, 5, or 6 DUI convictions prior to starting the program were combined into one group due to sample size ^{##}Significant at the 1% level for 1-way ANOVA

4.3 Before-and-After Results

4.3.1 Gender

Before-and-after trends can be tracked narrowly by demographic information. A before-and-after comparison by gender shows positive improvements among program participants (Table 4.11). For instance, more than four-fifths of both men (82%) and women (85%) had at least one non-DUI conviction on record prior to beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program. After enrollment, these proportions declined to 30% and 28%, respectively, which were both statistically significant at the 1% level (t=34.506, df=1,463, p<0.001; t=21.177, df=428, p<0.001). This reduction implies that the program may influence participant behavior beyond impaired driving-related crime. Another noticeable trend separate from impaired driving is that of a reduction in traffic crashes. About two-fifths of men (42%) and half of women (54%) had a crash on record before starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program. These numbers declined to 7% and 8%, respectively, after enrollment in the program, which was once again statistically significant at the 1% level (t=23.996, df=1,463, p<0.001; t=16.561, df=428, p<0.001).

Males	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	94%	15%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.81	0.16	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	82%	30%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.82	0.60	**
Percent with at least one crash	42%	7%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.62	0.08	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	82%	15%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.46	0.17	**
Females	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	98%	9%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.93	0.10	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	85%	28%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.31	0.56	**
Percent with at least one crash	54%	8%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.78	0.09	**
			**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	87%	9%	
Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record	87% 1.55	9% 0.11	**

Table 4.11 Before-and-After Results: Gender Percentages and Averages

As a whole, when studied across gender, every metric saw a statistically significant improvement when factoring for before-and-after trends. Whether the metric was examined by percentage or by average, both men and women noticeably reduced dangerous driving behaviors after enrolling in the program. This pattern remained constant when factoring for both impaired-related and non-impaired-related crime.

4.3.2 Age

An examination of before-and-after trends factoring for individual age cohorts shows that participants once again were positively influenced after enrollment in the 24/7 Sobriety Program (Table 4.12). Like results across gender, participants once again improved overall and average crime scores across all metrics used in this study. The 55+ age cohort had the largest improvement with regard to the percentage of participants having at least one DUI on record. Whereas 98% of this group had at least one DUI before starting the program, just 6% had at least one DUI on record after program enrollment (t=28.710, df=109, p<0.001). The largest improvement in terms of non-DUI convictions came from the 18-to-24 year-old age cohort (t=20.918, df=428, p<0.001). Whereas 90% of participants in this age cohort had at least one non-DUI conviction on record before beginning the program, 34% had such a conviction on record after program enrollment, a reduction of 56%.

In terms of traffic crashes, the 55+ age cohort was safest. This group had the lowest percentage with at least one crash before starting the program (35%) and also had the fewest participants (4%) to have a traffic crash after partaking in the 24/7 Sobriety Program. All age cohorts significantly reduced the number of drivers with at least one crash on record after beginning the program.

The 18-to-24 year-old cohort had the highest number of drivers recidivate based on those who failed BAC tests after beginning the program. Of all 18-to-24 year-olds in this sample, 16% failed at least one BAC test after beginning the program – a larger percentage than any other group. Similarly, this group had the highest average number of failed BAC tests (0.18 per participant) after enrolling in the program. In contrast, the 55+ age group was least likely to recidivate; just 6% of participants in this cohort had at least

one failed BAC test after starting the program and there were only 0.06 failed BAC tests per participant among these DUI offenders.

It should be noted that the driver's license information available to the researchers was restricted to a look-back period of seven years. Thus, it is possible that some drivers had the full seven-year "look-back" period and subsequently had their licenses for a longer period of time before starting the program than they did after enrolling in the 24/7 Sobriety Program. However, nearly half of all drivers in this sample have been followed after enrolling in the program for three or more years – making these findings more robust. To further complicate the interpretation of these results, the researchers were not given information regarding the date for which a driver obtained a license and/or passed a driver's exam. Without this information, it is difficult to interpret the seven-year look-back period as some of these participants may not have had a driver's license during this time. Nonetheless, the impact the program has on offender behavior is evident across demographic profiles: DUI offenders in this sample were significantly less likely to engage in dangerous alcohol-related and non-alcohol-related traffic activity.

Table 4.12 Before-and-After Results: Age Cohort Percentage	s and Averages		
18-to-24 Year-Old Cohort	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	94%	16%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.63	0.18	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	90%	34%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	4.95	0.76	**
Percent with at least one crash	59%	8%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.94	0.09	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	82%	16%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.36	0.18	**
25-to-34 Year-Old Cohort	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	95%	14%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.91	0.16	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	83%	30%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.77	0.59	**
Percent with at least one crash	45%	7%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.65	0.09	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	83%	14%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.52	0.16	**
35-to-44 Year-Old Cohort	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	96%	12%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.93	0.13	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	81%	29%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.48	0.58	**
Percent with at least one crash	38%	7%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.53	0.08	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	84%	13%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.51	0.14	**
45-to-54 Year-Old Cohort	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	94%	14%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.81	0.15	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	76%	26%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	2.60	0.49	**
Percent with at least one crash	38%	7%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.51	0.08	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	83%	13%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.53	0.16	**
55+ Year-Old Cohort	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	98%	6%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.96	0.06	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	74%	20%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	2.41	0.31	**
Percent with at least one crash	35%	4%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.49	0.05	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	85%	5%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.54	0.06	**
**Statistically significant difference at 1% level for paired samples t-test			

Table 4.12 Before-and-After Results: Age Cohort Percentages and Averages

4.3.3 Recidivist Status

Unlike differences across gender and age – which were found to be statistically significant for every metric studied in this report – before-and-after results for high-risk and moderate-risk offenders suggest that the program was not as effective of a deterrent (Table 4.13 and Table 4.14). High-risk recidivists were just as likely to have at least one non-DUI conviction on record after program enrollment as they were before starting the sobriety program (t=-0.227, df=52, p=0.821). Although high-risk recidivists had fewer crashes on average after beginning the program, the decline was not a statistically significant improvement (t=1.151, df=52, p=0.255). For this at-risk driver group, the program was not effective at deterring dangerous driving activity for both alcohol-related and non-alcohol-related crime.

Moderate-risk recidivists saw more positive results than did high-risk recidivists. For instance, the percentage of moderate-risk offenders with at least one crash on record nearly dropped in half (t=4.308, df=203, p<0.001) and the average number of crashes this group was involved in declined noticeably as well (t=4.734, df=203, p<0.001). Although this group improved its driving with regard to traffic crashes, these participants were still just as likely to have a non-DUI conviction on record after beginning the program as they were prior to starting it (t=1.089, df=203, p=0.277). For this group of drivers, the program appears to be successful at reducing the overall number of crashes, but is not as strong of a deterrent in terms of non-DUI-related crime.

Table 4.13 Before-and-After Results: High-Risk Recidivist Person	itemages and Ave	lages	
High-Risk Recidivist	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	57%	58%	
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	2.38	1.08	**
Percent with at least one crash	19%	13%	
Number of crashes on record	0.23	0.13	
Others	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Others Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	Before Program 83%	After Program 29%	Sig. **
	ę	0	
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	83%	29%	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record	83% 3.75	29% 0.58	** **

Table 4.13 Before-and-After Results: High-Risk Recidivist Percentages and Averages

Table 4.14 Before-and-After Results: Moderate-Risk Recidivist Percentages and Averages

Moderate-Risk Recidivist	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	76%	73%	
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.60	1.74	**
Percent with at least one crash	39%	20%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.58	0.25	**
Others	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	83%	24%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.72	0.45	**
Percent with at least one crash	46%	6%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.67	0.06	**
rumber of erusites on record	0.0.		

4.3.4 Prior Impaired Driving History

All program participants – regardless of the number of impaired driving events on record prior to starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program – saw significant improvements after beginning the program (Table 4.15). Those with one DUI on record before enrollment had significantly fewer DUIs on record after beginning the program (t=62.404, df=606, p<0.001). Those with two DUIs before the program intervention had significantly fewer non-DUI convictions after starting the program (t=25.339, df=816, p<0.001). Participants with three DUIs before beginning the program saw a significant reduction in the number of crashes after beginning the program (t=12.177, df=286, p<0.001). Participants had fewer failed BAC tests after starting the program than they did beforehand for those with at least four DUIs on record (t=26.869, df=88, p<0.001).

Despite these significant improvements, there was a noticeable trend: participants with more DUIs on record had higher rates of impaired driving events than did participants with fewer DUIs on record. For example, there was a consistent growth in the percentage with at least one crash after beginning the program: 6% of those with only one DUI on record had at least one crash and 10% of those with four or more DUIs on record had at least one crash. Similar patterns emerged when looking at the percentage of participants with at least one failed BAC test after beginning the program. Interestingly, those with three DUIs on record prior to starting the program had higher rates of non-DUI convictions than did those with four or more DUIs on record. Nonetheless, for all participants, there were statistically significant improvements with regard to this metric, revealing that the program still had a strong deterrent effect.

1 DUI in the 7 Years before Starting Program	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	100%	11%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.00	0.12	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	73%	24%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	2.70	0.52	**
Percent with at least one crash	40%	6%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.54	0.06	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	65%	11%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	0.72	0.13	**
2 DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	100%	9%	**
Number of DUIs on record	2.00	0.09	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	89%	29%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	4.15	0.59	**
Percent with at least one crash	48%	7%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.70	0.09	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	97%	10%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.61	0.11	**
3 DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	100%	9%	Sig. **
			<u> </u>
Percent with at least one DUI	100%	9%	**
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record	100% 3.00	9% 0.09	** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	100% 3.00 92%	9% 0.09 36%	** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record	100% 3.00 92% 4.54	9% 0.09 36% 0.70	** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52%	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8%	** ** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09	** ** ** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100%	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 After Program	** ** ** ** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15	** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 After Program	** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program Percent with at least one DUI	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program 100%	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 <u>After Program</u> 16%	** ** ** ** ** ** Sig. **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program 100% 4.29	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 After Program 16% 0.22	** ** ** ** ** ** Sig. ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program 100% 4.29 98%	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 <u>After Program</u> 16% 0.22 31%	** ** ** ** ** Sig. ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program 100% 4.29 98% 6.09	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 <u>After Program</u> 16% 0.22 31% 0.57	** ** ** ** ** Sig. ** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program 100% 4.29 98% 6.09 55%	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 <u>After Program</u> 16% 0.22 31% 0.57 10%	** ** ** ** ** Sig. ** ** ** ** ** **
Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record Percent with at least one failed BAC test Number of failed BAC tests on record 4+ DUIs in the 7 Years before Starting Program Percent with at least one DUI Number of DUIs on record Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record	100% 3.00 92% 4.54 52% 0.84 100% 2.55 Before Program 100% 4.29 98% 6.09 55% 0.99	9% 0.09 36% 0.70 8% 0.09 13% 0.15 After Program 16% 0.22 31% 0.57 10% 0.13	** ** ** ** ** Sig. ** ** ** ** ** **

Table 4.15 Before-and-After Results: Prior DUI History Percentages and Averages

5. PARTICIPANT PATTERNS RELATED TO HOUSE BILL 1302

House Bill 1302 became effective on August 1, 2013. The legislative changes mandated by this bill included longer enrollment periods in the 24/7 Sobriety Program for repeat offenders. The last entry into the database provided to the researchers occurred in April of 2014. Therefore, participants beginning the 24/7 Sobriety Program after the new legislation was implemented were only tracked for approximately eight months. In total, 431 participants began the program after the new legislation was implemented.

In order to maintain congruity, patterns related to the passing of House Bill 1302 were only tracked for 240 days following the date on which a participant began the 24/7 Program. This is because some participants who started the program before House Bill 1302 was passed were subsequently tracked for multiple years. It would be inaccurate to include offenses that occurred years after beginning the program for participants who started before the passing of House Bill 1302 because the data set contains only eight months of post-House Bill 1302 information.

Identical patterns emerged when studying participants with at least one violation (Table 5.1) and the average number of violations (Table 5.2) factoring for whether or not the participant started the 24/7 Sobriety Program before or after the passing of House Bill 1302. For instance, participants who started the program before House Bill 1302 was enacted were more likely to have at least one DUI on record after starting the program (Chi-Sq.=34.751, df=1, p<0.001). On average, these same drivers had a DUI-related conviction after starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program at a rate that was 10 times higher than those who started the program after the passing of House Bill 1302 (F=34.985, df=1, p<0.001). Participants who started the program before the passing of House Bill 1302 also had more non-DUI convictions (F=36.387, df=1, p<0.001) and more crashes (F=4.709, df=1, p=0.030) after starting the program than did those participants who began the program after House Bill 1302 was enacted. These findings reveal that the more stringent standards set by House Bill 1302 do a better job at keeping participants sober. The effect of the more stringent standards also extends to non-DUI convictions and overall crash patterns.

Metric	Before House Bill	After House Bill 1302	Sig.
	1302		
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.94	0.97	*
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.09	0.01	**
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	0.82	0.84	
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.18	0.04	**
Crash, before Program Start	0.45	0.44	
Crash, after Program Start	0.03	0.01	*
BAC Test, before Program Start	0.89	0.65	**
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.07	0.01	**

Table 5.1 Mean Values Displaying Participants with at Least One Violation, by House Bill 1302

*Statistically significant difference across groups at the 5% level for Chi-Square test

Metric	Before House Bill	After House Bill 1302	Sig.
	1302		
DUI Conviction, before Program Start	1.89	1.66	##
DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.10	0.01	##
Non-DUI Conviction, before Program Start	3.67	3.85	
Non-DUI Conviction, after Program Start	0.26	0.06	##
Crash, before Program Start	0.67	0.63	
Crash, after Program Start	0.03	0.01	#
BAC Test, before Program Start	1.68	0.83	##
BAC Test, after Program Start	0.08	0.01	##
##Statistically significant difference across groups at 1%			
*Statistically significant difference across groups at 5%	level for 1-way ANOVA		

Table 5.2 Mean Values Displaying Average Participant Violations, by House Bill 1302

Although participants who started the program after the passing of House Bill 1302 had safer behaviors compared with those who started the program before the passing of House Bill 1302, the program still had powerful before-and-after effects on participants regardless of when they began the program (Table 5.3). For each metric analyzed in this report, there was a statistically significant improvement after program intervention. Results were more powerful for participants who had to adhere to the longer 24/7 Sobriety Program standards after the passing of House Bill 1302. Regardless, it should be reiterated that the program still has a statistically significant impact on participants even if they are not required to participate for a full year as mandated by the most recent legislative changes.

Enrolled Before House Bill 1302	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	94%	9%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.89	0.10	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	82%	18%	**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.67	0.26	**
Percent with at least one crash	45%	3%	**
Number of crashes on record	0.67	0.03	**
Percent with at least one failed BAC test	89%	7%	**
Number of failed BAC tests on record	1.68	0.08	**
Enrolled After House Bill 1302	Before Program	After Program	Sig.
Percent with at least one DUI	97%	1%	**
Number of DUIs on record	1.66	0.01	**
Percent with at least one non-DUI conviction	84%	4%	**
			**
Number of non-DUI convictions on record	3.85	0.06	~~~
Number of non-DUI convictions on record Percent with at least one crash	3.85 44%	0.06 1%	**
	- ·		
Percent with at least one crash	44%	1%	**
Percent with at least one crash Number of crashes on record	44% 0.63	1% 0.01	** **

Table 5.3 Before-and-After Results: Pre/Post-House Bill 1302 Percentages and Averages

6. CONCLUSIONS

It should be emphasized that the focus of this research was not to examine daily sobriety pass/fail rates by program participants during enrollment. Instead, the aim of this report was to determine if the program has a deterrent effect on participants and whether or not this effect extends beyond impaired driving into other traffic safety issues. Based on the analysis of 1,893 program participants, the 24/7 Sobriety Program has a strong deterrent effect in North Dakota. Among DUI offenders in this sample, positive improvements were made upon enrolling in the program. With regard to differences across gender, the program appeared to have a stronger influence on women than men; females were more likely to have DUIs and traffic crashes on record prior to starting the program but reduced these traffic metrics considerably after enrollment occurred. In terms of age, younger drivers were generally more dangerous prior to starting the program, a notion which parallels other studies of non-DUI offenders in North Dakota (see Vachal, Benson, and Kubas 2014).

Two especially dangerous groups of program participants were studied to find if the program deters unsafe driving behaviors across different risk-taking driver groups. Results were mixed. DUI offenders who committed an impaired driving event within 60 days of starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program had no significant improvement for non-DUI convictions on record. This group also did not improve crash rates. This was unlike all other drivers who saw statistically significant improvements for the same traffic metrics.

DUI offenders who committed at least one impaired driving event at any time after starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program saw some improvements after enrolling in the program. These drivers reduced the average number of non-DUI-related convictions on record and also saw statistically significant improvements for traffic crashes. Unlike all other enrollees – a group that had a statistically significant decline in the percent of participants who had at least one non-DUI conviction on record – moderate-risk offenders saw no statistically significant improvement for this driving metric.

As a whole, the 24/7 Sobriety Program has a positive effect for a majority of North Dakota residents. This deterrent effect is not as strong for the most dangerous drivers – those who likely abuse alcohol and have issues with self-control. This was evident when studying high-risk and moderate-risk offenders. To a lesser degree, despite statistically significant improvements in before-and-after results, it was also evident when examining prior DUI history as those with more DUIs before starting the program offended at higher rates than did those with fewer DUIs across the traffic safety metrics studied in this report.

There were limitations to this study. For instance, the researchers did not have access to the date for which individual participants obtained their license. It is possible that – for some participants – the seven-year look-back period included a time in the participant's life in which he or she did not yet have a driver's license. Along these same lines, without knowing the date for which the license was obtained, the before-and-after comparisons should be interpreted with some caution. For many participants, it is likely that the seven-year look-back period is a longer amount of time than the period for which participants have been tracked after starting the 24/7 Sobriety Program. This may explain the statistically significant improvements participants made after enrolling in the program. Even when factoring for this disconnect, it should still be seen as a warning to topic experts about the program at a similar rate to the seven-year look-back period. In other words, compared to the seven years before starting the program, high-risk offenders commit a similar number of violations as they did prior to starting the program – and in many instances, they do so in a shorter amount of time.

When the amount of time after beginning the program is held constant – as was the case when studying the effect of passing House Bill 1302 – results were positive. Regardless of when a participant began the program, the before-and-after results for convictions and crashes improve significantly during the first eight months after program intervention. This was the maximum amount of time available to the researchers to study after the legislative changes were made. The 24/7 Sobriety Program clearly deters most participants from partaking in dangerous behaviors. Participants involved in the program after the passing of House Bill 1302 were found to have fewer convictions and crashes than were participants who started the program before the passing of House Bill 1302. There is a clear link between the amount of time one is enrolled in the program and its influence on participants to abide by the law.

The viability of a program to deter unsafe behaviors does not equate to cost effectiveness. It would be prudent in the future to have the 24/7 Sobriety Program subjected to a cost-benefit analysis in order to validate that the program is using resources in the most efficient way possible. It is undeniable that the program has a positive deterrent effect, but at what cost? This question will need answering if the program is going to be used at a wider scale in the future.

Finally, it should be mentioned that this study focused solely on repeat offenders. It is not implausible to think that some of the metrics used in this report – crashes, non-DUI convictions, and others not covered in this project – could be used to predict which first-time impaired driving offenders are most likely to reoffend in the future. A general linear model and/or multiple regression model could be developed to create a risk assessment instrument that could be administered to first-time DUI offenders to accurately gauge if some first-time offenders are at a higher risk for reoffending than others. More stringent sanctions could be placed on these at-risk first-time offenders in an effort to prevent recidivism before it happens.

REFERENCES

- Beitel, George A., Michael C. Sharp, and William D. Glauz. 2000. "Probability of Arrest While Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol." *Injury Prevention* 6:158-161.
- Bergen, Gwen, Ruth A. Shults, and Rose A. Rudd. 2011. "Vital Signs: Alcohol-Impaired Driving Among Adults United States, 2010." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 60(39):1351-1356.
- Birst, Aaron and Kristi Pettit Venhuizen. 2014. "HB 1302 the New DUI Law." Presented at the 2014 North Dakota Law Enforcement Summit, Bismarck, ND.
- Brown, Trevor. 2012. "DUI Program Could Save Wyoming Big Bucks." *The Wyoming Tribune Eagle*, September 29. Retrieved November 15, 2013, (http://www.wyomingnews.com/articles/2012/09/30/news/20local_09-30-12.txt#.UyMUsvldVvA).
- Chavers, Mikel. 2008. "South Dakota DUI Offenders Get Sober." *Council of State Governments* 51(10):27.
- DeMichele, Matthew and Nathan C. Lowe. 2011. "DWI Recidivism: Risk Implications for Community Supervision." *Federal Probation* 75(3):19-24.
- Dill, Patricia L. and Elisabeth Wells-Parker. 2006. "Court-Mandated Treatment for Convicted Drinking Drivers." *Alcohol Research & Health* 29(1):41-48.
- Drew, Lisa, Dawn Royal, Benjamin Moulton, Anne Peterson, and Dar Haddix. 2010. National Survey of Drinking and Driving Attitudes and Behaviors: 2008. Report No. DOT-HS-811-342.
 Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- DuPont, Robert L. and Gregory E. Skipper. 2012. "Six Lessons from State Physician Health Programs to Promote Long-Term Recovery." *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs* 44(1):72-78. doi:10.1080/02791072.2012.660106.
- Ekendahl, Mats. 2007. "Alcohol Abuse, Compulsory Treatment and Successive Aftercare: A Qualitative Study of Client Perspectives." *International Journal of Social Welfare* 18:260-269. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2397.2008.00596.x.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. 2013. Uniform Crime Reports: Estimated Number of Arrests. Washington, DC: United States Department of Justice. Retrieved November 13, 2013, (<u>http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/2013/crime-in-the-u.s.-2013/tables/table-29/table 29 estimated number of arrests united states 2013.xls).</u>
- Fell, J.C. and T.M. Klein. 1994. "Update: Alcohol-Related Traffic Fatalities." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 43(47):861.
- Fell, James. 1995. *Repeat DWI Offenders in the United States*. Traffic Tech Series, No. 85. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.

- Fell, James C., A. Scott Tippetts, and J. DeCarlo Ciccel. 2010. "An Evaluation of Three Driving-Underthe-Influence Courts in Georgia." *Annals of Advances in Automotive Medicine* 55:301-312.
- Fiellin, David A., M. Carrington Reid, and Patrick G. O'Connor. 2000. "Outpatient Management of Patients with Alcohol Problems." *Annals of Internal Medicine* 133(10):815-827.
- Fisher, Debora A., A. Scott McKnight, and James C. Fell. 2013. *Intensive DWI Supervision in Urban Areas – Feasibility Study*. Report No. DOT-HS-811-861. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Gould, Larry A. and Kristin Herke Gould. 1992. "First-Time and Multiple-DWI Offenders: A Comparison of Criminal History Records and BAC Levels." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 20:527-539.
- Hause, J., R. Voas, and E. Chavez. 1982. "Conducting Voluntary Roadside Surveys: The Stockton Experience." Proceedings of the Satellite Conference to the 8th International Conference on Alcohol, Drug, and Traffic Safety, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Hazel, Kelly L. and Gerald V. Mohatt. 2001. "Cultural and Spiritual Coping in Sobriety: Informing Substance Abuse Prevention for Alaska Native Communities." *Journal of Community Psychology* 29(5):541-562.
- Huseth, Andrea and Andrew Kubas. 2012. Alcohol Consumption Patterns in North Dakota: Survey of DUI Offenders. DP-254. Fargo, ND: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University.
- Kilmer, Beau, Nancy Nicosia, Paul Heaton, and Greg Midgette. 2013. "Efficacy of Frequent Monitoring With Swift, Certain, and Modest Sanctions for Violations: Insights from South Dakota's 24/7 Sobriety Project." American Journal of Public Health 103(1):e37-e43.
- Kiyabu, Richard, Joachim Steinberg, and Minako Yoshida. 2010. *Hawai'i's Opportunity Probation with Enforcement (HOPE): An Implementation Analysis.* Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii at Manoa Public Administration Program.
- Kleiman, Mark A.R. and Angela Hawken. 2008. "Fixing the Parole System." *Issues in Science & Technology* 24(4):45.
- Lacey, John H., Tara Kelley-Baker, Debra Furr-Holden, Robert B. Voas, Eduardo Romano, Pedro Torres, A. Scott Tippetts, Anthony Ramirez, Katharine Brainard, and Amy Berning. 2009. 2007 National Roadside Survey of Alcohol and Drug Use by Drivers: Alcohol Results. Report No. DOT-HS-811-248. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Lin, Mau-Roung, Wenzheng Huang, Hei-Fen Hwang, Hong-Dar I. Wu, and Lee-Lan Yen. 2004. "The Effect of Crash Experience on Changes in Risk Taking among Urban and Rural Young People." *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 36:213-222. doi:10.1016/S0001-4575(02)00150-1.

Long, Larry. 2009. "The 24/7 Sobriety Project." Public Lawyer 17:2-5.

Loudenburg, Roland, Gregg Drube, and Gary Leonardson. 2010. South Dakota 24/7 Sobriety Program Evaluation Findings Report. Salem, SD: Mountain Plains Evaluation, LLC.

- McKnight, A. Scott, James C. Fell, and Amy Auld-Owens. 2012. *Transdermal Alcohol Monitoring: Case Studies*. Report No. DOT-HS-811-603. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Mothers Against Drunk Driving. 2014. "North Dakota." Irving, TX: Retrieved October 9, 2014, (http://www.madd.org/drunk-driving/state-stats/North_Dakota.html).
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. 2006. *DWI Detection and Standardized Field Sobriety Testing: Student Manual*. Report No. HS-178-R2/06. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. 2007. *Digest of Impaired Driving and Selected Beverage Control Laws: Twenty-Fourth Edition*. Report No. DOT-HS-810-827. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. 2010. *National Survey of Drinking and Driving Attitudes and Behaviors*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 2012. *Alcohol-Impaired Driving*. Report No. DOT-HS-811-700. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. 2006. *A Guide to Sentencing DWI Offenders*. 2nd ed. Report No. DOT-HS-810-555. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- Nochajski, T.H. and P.R. Stasiewicz. 2006. "Relapse to Driving Under the Influence (DUI): A Review." *Clinical Psychology Review* 26(2):179-195.
- North Dakota Attorney General. 24/7 Sobriety Program. Bismarck, ND: Retrieved November 13, 2013, (http://www.ag.nd.gov/TwentyFourSeven/).
- North Dakota Century Code 54-12-27. *Twenty-Four Seven Sobriety Program*. Bismarck, ND: State of North Dakota. Retrieved October 10, 2014, (http://www.legis.nd.gov/cencode/t54c12.pdf?20141010084151).
- North Dakota Century Code 54-12-28. *Twenty-Four Seven Sobriety Program Guidelines and Program Fees*. Bismarck, ND: State of North Dakota. Retrieved October 10, 2014, (http://www.legis.nd.gov/cencode/t54c12.pdf?20141010084151).
- North Dakota Century Code 54-12-29. *Twenty-Four Seven Sobriety Program Fund Continuing Appropriation*. Bismarck, ND: State of North Dakota. Retrieved October 10, 2014, (http://www.legis.nd.gov/cencode/t54c12.pdf?20141010084151).
- North Dakota Century Code 54-12-30. *Twenty-Four Seven Sobriety Program Fees*. Bismarck, ND: State of North Dakota. Retrieved October 10, 2014, (http://www.legis.nd.gov/cencode/t54c12.pdf?20141010084151).
- North Dakota Century Code 54-12-31. *Bond Conditions*. Bismarck, ND: State of North Dakota. Retrieved October 10, 2014, (<u>http://www.legis.nd.gov/cencode/t54c12.pdf?20141010084151</u>).
- North Dakota Department of Transportation. 2010. *Drinking and Driving Facts*. Bismarck, ND: Retrieved October 9, 2014, (<u>http://www.dot.nd.gov/divisions/safety/drinking_driving.htm</u>).

- Office of National Drug Control Policy. 2011. Alternatives to Incarceration: A Smart Approach to Breaking the Cycle of Drug Use and Crime. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President. Retrieved November 12, 2013, (<u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/page/files/alternatives_to_incarceration_fact_sheet_10-13-11.pdf</u>).
- Palmer, Emma J., Ruth M. Hatcher, James McGuire, Charlotte A.L. Bilby, and Clive R. Hollin. 2012. "The Effect on Reconviction of an Intervention for Drink-Driving Offenders in the Community." *International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology* 56(4):525-538. doi:10.1177/0306624X11403894.
- Perrine, M.W., Raymond C. Peck, and James C. Fell. 1988. *Epidemiologic Perspectives on Drunk Driving*. Epidemiology and Data Management Background Papers, 35-76.
- Schell, T.L., K.S. Chan, and A.R. Morral. 2006. "Predicting DUI Recidivism: Personality, Attitudinal, and Behavioral Risk Factors." *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 82:33-40.
- Smith, Nick. 2013. "New DUI Law Highlights." *The Bismarck Tribune*. July 27. Retrieved October 9, 2014, (<u>http://bismarcktribune.com/news/local/govt-and-politics/new-dui-law-highlights/article_55f46b48-f636-11e2-af7d-001a4bcf887a.html</u>).
- Stenehjem, Wayne. 2008. Crime in North Dakota, 2008. Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Office of Attorney General, Bureau of Criminal Investigation. Retrieved March 13, 2014, (http://www.ag.nd.gov/Reports/BCIReports/CrimeHomicide/Crime08.pdf).
- Stenehjem, Wayne. 2013. 24/7. Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Attorney General's Office, presentation on the 24/7 Sobriety Program. Retrieved March 13, 2014, (https://www.ag.nd.gov/TwentyFourSeven/ND247Program.pdf).
- Subramanian, Rajesh. 2009. *Motor Vehicle Traffic Crashes as a Leading Cause of Death in the United States, 2006.* Report No. DOT-HS-811-226. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Vachal, Kimberly, Laurel Benson, and Andrew Kubas. 2014. North Dakota Statewide Traffic Safety Survey 2014: Traffic Safety Performance Measures for State and Federal Agencies. DP-273. Fargo, ND: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University.
- VanWechel, Tamara, Kimberly Vachal, and Laurel Benson. 2008. Traffic Safety Issues in North Dakota Phase II: Driver Knowledge, Attitude, Behavior and Beliefs Focus Group: Young Male Drivers. MPC-08-204. Fargo, ND: Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University.
- Voas, Robert B. and James C. Fell. 2011. "Preventing Impaired Driving: Opportunities and Problems." Alcohol Research & Health 34(2):225-235.
- Voas, Robert B., Robert L. DuPont, Stephen K. Talpins, and Corinne L. Shea. 2011. "Towards a National Model for Managing Impaired Driving Offenders." *Addiction* 106:1221-1227. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03339.x.

- Wiliszowski, C., P. Murphy, R. Jones, and J. Lacey. 1996. Determine Reasons for Repeat Drinking and Driving. Report No. DOT-HS-808-401. Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- Zaloshnja, Eduard and Ted. R. Miller. 2009. "Cost of Crashes Related to Road Conditions, United States, 2006." Annals of Advances in Automotive Medicine 53:141-153.
- Ziegler, Francis G., Linda Butts, Glenn Jackson, and Karin Mongeon. 2010. *Highway Safety Plan: Federal Fiscal Year 2010*. Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Department of Transportation: Traffic Safety Office. Retrieved November 18, 2013, (www.nhtsa.gov/links/StateDocs/FY10/FY10HSPs/NDFY10HSP.pdf).
- Ziegler, Francis G., Linda Butts, Mark Nelson, and Karin Mongeon. 2011. *Highway Safety Plan: Federal Fiscal Year 2012*. Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Department of Transportation: Safety Division, Traffic Safety Office. Retrieved November 18, 2013, (https://www.dot.nd.gov/divisions/safety/docs/2012-HSP-Final.pdf).